ISSUE PRESENTED.

(Rule 8.520(b)(2)(B).)

Are California Rules of Court, rules 5.482(c) and 5.484(c)(2), consistent with the Welfare and Institutions Code, section 224.1, subdivision (a) and Indian Child Welfare Act definition of "Indian child," when they require a court in a child custody proceeding to treat, as if she/he were an Indian, a child who has been designated by a federally-recognized

¹ All undesignated statutory references are to the Welfare and Institutions Code.

² 25 U.S.C. § 1902, et seq. Hereafter, "ICWA."

tribe as eligible for tribal membership, but who is not yet formally enrolled?

Rules 5.482(c) and 5.484(c)(2) do not conflict with statute because they do not redefine "Indian child." They are narrow procedural mandates which apply only after ICWA notice reveals a tribe has already determined an unenrolled child has sufficient Indian blood quantum for membership.

As such, the rules enable courts to accomplish the Legislature's goal of correcting California's 25-year history of ICWA compliance failures, while simultaneously promoting prompt resolution of child custody proceedings.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS.³ (Rule 8.204(a)(2)(c).)

The family in this case consists of respondent, Joseph A. (Joseph),

Jamie S. (mother), and the minors, Abbigail A., born June 2008, and Justin

A..⁴ born May 2007. (CT 1-6.)⁵

In the fall of 2012, the minors were living with mother in

³ Rule 8.204(a)(2)(C); In re Kimberly F. (1997) 56 Cal.App.4th 519, 522, fn. 2 ["It is impossible to ... [get] an accurate "feel" for what is really going on in most juvenile dependency cases without integrating the statement of the case with the statement of the facts"].

⁴ Rule 8.401(a): "To protect the anonymity of juveniles involved in juvenile court proceedings: (1) In all documents filed by the parties in proceedings under this chapter, a juvenile must be referred to by first name and last initial; but if the first name is unusual or other circumstances would defeat the objective of anonymity, the initials of the juvenile may be used."

⁵ Hereafter referred to by name, or "the minors" or "the children."

Sacramento. (CT 12.) In November 2012, mother was arrested on suspicion of unlawful possession of controlled substances and drug paraphernalia. (CT 3, 16-18.)

The Sacramento County Department of Health and Human Services (Department) was notified and, following an investigation, detained the children and temporarily placed them with the maternal grandmother. (CT 23.)

At the time, Joseph had a history of law enforcement contact, mental health problems, drug use and domestic violence. (CT 313-316.) His current whereabouts were unknown to the Department. (CT 19.)

On December 4, 2012, the Department filed a section 300 petition with the juvenile court alleging under subdivision (b) that mother's drug use placed the children at risk. (CT 1-10.) The petition made no allegations implicating Joseph in abuse or neglect. (CT 8-9.)

On January 4, 2013, Joseph appeared at a pre-jurisdictional status conference hearing. (RT 1.) There, he claimed Cherokee Indian ancestry saying: "My mother's mother is Indian. My aunt has the tree of the – all the family members" and "she collects, you know, medical and stuff like that through the tribe." (CT 90; RT 6.) Joseph provided the court with his aunt's telephone number and address. (RT 6.) Whereupon, the court ordered the

Department contact the paternal great-aunt to obtain Indian ancestry information. (RT 6-7.)

On January 9, 2013, the Department mailed ICWA-030 notices to the relevant Cherokee⁶ tribes. (CT 96, 99-127; RT 20.)

On January 25, 2013, the Department filed an amended petition alleging Joseph had a history of substance abuse and domestic violence.(CT 295, 301.) The juvenile court declared Joseph a presumed father. (RT 17, 20.)

On January 29, 2013, the Cherokee Nation⁷ informed the Department by letter that Abbigail and Justin were "eligible for enrollment and affiliation with Cherokee Nation by having direct lineage to an enrolled member." (CT 333; RT 20, 28-29.) The Cherokee Nation provided the Department with membership application forms for the children and requested they be completed "by the party having custody or their representative." (CT 333.) The letter stressed that the Cherokee Nation was not empowered to intervene until the applications had been approved. (CT

⁶ There are three federally-recognized Cherokee Indian tribes: Cherokee Nation, Eastern Band of Cherokee Indians and United Keetoowah Band of Cherokee Indians in Oklahoma (77 Federal Register No. 155, August 2012, 47869, 47872.)

⁷ The Cherokee Nation consists of 317,000 members and is headquartered in Tahlequah, Oklahoma. (<u>http://cherokee.org</u>, last visited, December 6, 2014.)

The Cherokee Nation further urged the parties to treat the children as Indians until formal enrollment was complete. (CT 333.) The tribe wrote: "Due to the tribal eligibility of the children in question, Cherokee Nation recommends applying all the protections of ICWA to this matter from the beginning of the case. Hopefully this will prevent any future delays in procedural matters if or when the parents or child/children become enrolled members meeting federal ICWA compliance." (CT 333.)

At a hearing on February 20, 2013, the court found that, in light of the children's eligibility for Cherokee Nation membership they ought to be treated as if they were Indian children until the matter was resolved by the tribe. (RT 32.) The court ordered the Department to obtain an ICWA expert for jurisdictional and dispositional purposes. (RT 32.)

On February 22, 2013, the Department argued to the court that 25 U.S.C. § 1903, subdivision (4), provided that to be an Indian child a person had to be eligible for membership and be the biological child of an enrolled parent. (RT 27, 29.) Since Joseph was not yet enrolled in the Cherokee Nation, the Department argued the children could not be Indians under ICWA. (RT 29.)

On February 27, 2013, the Cherokee Nation sent a letter to the

Department repeating its earlier request that the parties treat Abbigail and Justin as Indians to prevent delay. (CT 390.) The letter gently chided the Department for not facilitating enrollment, by stating: "We have not received a response from you as of this date." (CT 390.)

On March 1, 2013, the Department filed a motion for reconsideration asking the juvenile court to void its earlier decision applying rules 5.482(c) and 5.484(c)(2). (CT 390.)

Meanwhile, Joseph tested positive for exposure to marijuana, opiates and benzodiazepine. (CT 443.) The minors remained in the non-Indian home of the maternal grandmother, where they were doing well. (CT 360.)

On March 15, 2013, the matter returned to court for hearing on the Department's motion for reconsideration of the ICWA orders. (RT 36A.) The court continued the matter for the parties to do additional research on the twin issues of 1) whether the juvenile court could continue to treat Abbigail and Justin as Indians pending their formal enrollment in the Cherokee Nation; and, 2) whether the juvenile court had authority to order the Department to assist the children in obtaining Cherokee Nation enrollment. (RT 389-40, 46.)

On March 22, 2013, the Department filed additional written argument opposing the order to enroll the children in the Cherokee Nation

on the theory the ICWA did not yet apply. (CT 415-430.) The minors aligned themselves with Joseph, arguing rules 5.482(c) and 5.848(c)(2) were consistent with the ICWA and should be followed. (CT 433-440.)

The matter was revisited in court on April 5, 2013, and Joseph was present. (RT 44.) There, following argument, the trial court stated: "The Court concludes that California Rules of Court 5.482(c) and 5.484(c)(2) require this Court to direct the Department to make reasonable efforts to secure tribal membership for the children, and further requires this Court to proceed as if the children are Indian children, meaning that we proceed under the Indian Child Welfare Act." (RT 53.)

In so finding, the court concluded that rules 5.482(c) and 5.848(c)(2) were "consistent with ... California Law" because of their intended amelioration of past state court ICWA violations. (RT 53-54.) Further the court noted that because the children were "not in a position to perfect their membership in the tribe," the social services agency should assist to ensure the children received the benefits of tribal membership. (RT 54.) The court ordered that the case would proceed, as if the children were Indians and ordered the Department to perfect enrollment for them. (RT 56.) The Department objected to the orders. (RT 46-51.)

On May 23, 2013, the matter came on calendar for a combined

jurisdictional and dispositional hearing and Joseph was present. (CT 454; RT 64.) There, the court heard from Indian expert Nanette Gledhill. (RT 72.) She testified that she had spoken to Cherokee Nation representative, Tracie Willie, who reported that Joseph's application for enrollment was incomplete and the tribe would not be "proceeding with the enrollment at this point." (RT 75.) Gledhill observed that, notwithstanding Joseph's regular visitation, continued parental care of the minors posed a risk of harm to them and that the Department had engaged in "active efforts" to prevent the break up of the family. (RT 77-78.) Gledhill reported the children's foster care home met ICWA placement preferences. (RT 77.)

Joseph testified he was participating in services and regularly visiting his children. (RT 86-104.)

Thereafter, the juvenile court sustained the allegations of the January 25, amended petition, declared the children dependents of the juvenile court, removed them from parental custody and ordered the Department to provide Joseph and mother with family reunification services. (CT 454-467; RT 125, 127-129.) The court found the children were eligible for Cherokee Nation enrollment and ordered they be considered Indians in the proceedings. (RT 125, 127-129.)

On July 11, 2013, the Department filed a notice of appeal, seeking

relief from the findings and orders of the juvenile court concerning the application of rules 5.482(c) and 5.484(c)(2). (CT 480-481.)

On June 16, 2014, the Court of Appeal, Third Appellate District in *In re Abbigail A*. (C074264) found rules 5.482(c) and 5.484(c)(2) contrary to section 224, subdivision (a) and, therefore, an unlawful expansion of ICWA's definitions of "Indian child." (Typed Opinion at pp. 12-14.)

On July 28, 2014, Joseph filed a Petition for Review, which this Court granted on September 10, 2014. This Brief on the Merits follows.

DISCUSSION.

I

CALIFORNIA RULES OF COURT, RULES 5.482(c) AND 5.484(c)(2), ARE IN HARMONY WITH THE DECLARED INTENT AND EXPRESS LANGUAGE OF BOTH THE ICWA AND CALIFORNIA LAW.

This Court is called upon to determine whether California
Rules of Court, rules 5.482(c) and 5.484(c)(2), are consistent with
California's version of ICWA with respect to the definition of an "Indian child." (§ 224.1, subd. (a); 25 U.S.C. § 1903(4).)

A. STANDARD OF REVIEW.

The interpretation of the interplay between California's Indian child protection legislation and related Rules of Court is a question of statutory construction. Such issues of law are reviewed *de novo*. (*Imperial Merchant Services, Inc. v. Hunt* (2009) 47 Cal.4th 381, 387.)

B. AN OVERVIEW OF THE INDIAN CHILD WELFARE ACT AND ITS INCORPORATION INTO CALIFORNIA STATUTORY LAW.

This Court is conversant with ICWA and California's incorporation of its provisions into statute, as it has recently, and extensively, treated the subject in *In re W.B., Jr.* (2012) 55 Cal.4th 30 (*W.B.*). A summary of ICWA is provided here:

1. The Intent and Purpose of ICWA.

The purposes of ICWA have been discussed extensively by numerous courts since its 1978 enactment. (See, e.g., Adoptive Couple v. Baby Girl (2013) — U.S. —, 133 S.Ct. 2552, 2557, 186 L.Ed.2d 729 (Adoptive Couple); Mississippi Band of Choctaw Indians v. Holyfield (1989) 490 U.S. 30, 32, (Holyfield); W.B., supra, 55 Cal.4th at pp. 48-52; In re Autumn K. (2013) 221 Cal.App.4th 674, 700 (Autumn K.)

The United States Supreme Court observed that ICWA was "the product of rising concern in the mid–1970's over the consequences to Indian children, Indian families, and Indian tribes⁸ of abusive child welfare practices that resulted in the separation of large numbers of Indian children from their families and tribes through adoption or foster care placement, usually in non-Indian homes." (*Holyfield, supra,* 490 U.S. at p. 32; see also *Adoptive Couple, supra,* 133 S.Ct. at p. 2557.)

The problem was highlighted in the United States Senate in 1978 by Calvin Isaac, tribal chief of the Mississippi Band of Choctaw Indians, who observed: "One of the most serious failings of the present system is that Indian children are removed from the custody of their natural parents by nontribal government authorities who have no basis for intelligently evaluating the cultural and social premises underlying Indian home life and

At present, there are 566 federally recognized American Indian and Alaska Native tribes and villages. (77 Federal Register No. 155, August 2012, 47863-47873.) A federally recognized tribe is an American Indian or Alaska Native tribal entity recognized as having a government-to-government relationship with the United States, with the responsibilities, powers, limitations, and obligations attached to that designation, and is eligible for funding and services from the Bureau of Indian Affairs. Furthermore, federally recognized tribes possess certain inherent rights of self-government and are entitled to receive certain federal benefits, services, and protections because of their special relationship with the United States. (http://www.bia.gov/FAQs (last visited, December 6, 2014.)

childrearing." (*Holyfield, supra*, at pp. 34–35, quoting the hearings on Sen. Bill No. 1214 before the Subcom. on Indian Affairs and Public Lands of the House Com. on Interior and Insular Affairs, 95th Cong., 2d Sess. (1978) at pp. 191–192.)

Prompted by this concern, Congress found: "(3) that there is no resource that is more vital to the continued existence and integrity of Indian tribes than their children and that the United States has a direct interest, as trustee, in protecting Indian children who are members of or are eligible for membership in an Indian tribe; (4) that an alarmingly high percentage of Indian families are broken up by the removal, often unwarranted, of their children from them by nontribal public and private agencies and that an alarmingly high percentage of such children are placed in non-Indian foster and adoptive homes and institutions; (5) that the States, exercising their recognized jurisdiction over Indian child custody proceedings through administrative and judicial bodies, have often failed to recognize the essential tribal relations of Indian people and the cultural and social standards prevailing in Indian communities and families." (25 U.S.C. § 1901.)

Accordingly, through the passage of the ICWA, Congress declared it a national policy "to protect the best interests of Indian children and to

promote the stability and security of Indian tribes and families by the establishment of minimum Federal standards for the removal of Indian children from their families and the placement of such children in foster or adoptive homes which will reflect the unique values of Indian culture, and by providing for assistance to Indian tribes in the operation of child and family service programs." (25 U.S.C. § 1902.)

Consistent with this national policy, ICWA establishes procedural and substantive standards governing notice, removal and placement of Indian children who are subject to child custody proceedings. (*W.B., supra,* at p. 40; *In re H.A.* (2002) 103 Cal.App.4th 1206, 1210; *In re Alicia S.* (1998) 65 Cal.App.4th 79 (*Alicia S.*).)

To assist state courts in implementing ICWA protections, one year after its enactment, the Bureau of Indian Affairs (BIA) promulgated federal guidelines. (Guidelines for State Courts; Indian Child Custody Proceedings, 44 Fed.Reg. 67584 (Nov. 26, 1979) (BIA Guidelines).) According to the BIA Guidelines, "The Indian Child Welfare Act, the federal regulations implementing the Act, the recommended guidelines and any state statutes, regulations or rules promulgated to implement the Act shall be liberally construed in favor of a result that is consistent with these preferences. Any ambiguities in any of such statutes, regulations, rules or guidelines shall be

resolved in favor of the result that is most consistent with these preferences." (*Id.* at p. 67586.)

Consistent with ICWA's goals to protect Indian children and tribes, the BIA Guidelines allow that "states may provide greater protection for rights guaranteed by ICWA, as long as the additional protections do not deprive other parties of their rights under the act." (*Id.* at p. at 67584; see *In re Alice M.* (2008) 161 Cal.App.4th 1189, 1199 (*Alice M.*); *In re Junious M.* (1983) 144 Cal.App.3d 786, 793 (*Junious M.*)

2. The ICWA Definition of "Indian child."

An early draft of ICWA did not define "Indian child," but rather defined as Indian "any person who is a member of or who is eligible for membership in a federally recognized Indian tribe." (123 Cong. Rec. S37223 (1977); *Nielson v. Ketchum* (10th Cir. 2011) 640 F.3d 1117, 1123.)9

⁹ Section 1603(c) provides for another definition of "Indian" under the ICWA. For health-related services, a qualifying "Indian" is any person who: [1] ...irrespective of whether he or she lives on or near a reservation, is a member of a tribe, band, or other organized group of Indians, including those tribes, bands, or groups terminated since 1940 and those recognized now or in the future by the State in which they reside, or who is a descendant, in the first or second degree, of any such member. [or] is determined to be an Indian under regulations promulgated by the Secretary." (Indian Health Care Improvement Act of 1976, 25 U.S.C. § 1603(c)[emphasis added].)

Congress ultimately defined "Indian child" as "any unmarried person who is under age eighteen and is either (a) a member of a tribe or (b) is eligible for membership in an Indian tribe and is the biological child of a member of an Indian tribe." (25 U.S.C. § 1903(4).)

3. To Remedy Problems with Superior Court Application and Enforcement of ICWA in Child Custody Proceedings, the California Legislature Incorporates ICWA and BIA Guidelines Into State Law and the Rules of Court.

Notwithstanding the clear national goals for protecting Indian tribes and families, California courts were careless in following ICWA provisions for its Indian population, ¹⁰ sometimes failing to provide proper notice of dependency proceedings involving an Indian child. (*W.B., supra,* at p. 52.) As noted by the California Senate in 2005, the application of ICWA's provisions by state courts was often "inconsistent and perfunctory." (*California Judges Benchguide: The Indian Child Welfare Act* (2010) p. 7 (*Benchguide*); see also Sen. Judiciary Com. Analysis of Sen. Bill No. 678 (2005–2006 Reg. Sess.), as amended Aug. 22, 2005, p. 6. ["[A]lthough

California has a total Indian population of 281,374, the largest of any state except Oklahoma. (Bureau of Indian Affairs, 2013 American Indian Population and Labor Force Report, p. 11 (January 16, 2014), (http://www.bia.gov/cs/groups/public/documents/text/idc1-024782.pdf.)

ICWA was enacted more than 25 years ago, state court and county agencies in California continue to violate not only the spirit and intent of ICWA, but also its express provisions."]; § U.S.C. § 1901.)

To remedy the problem, in 2006, the Legislature adopted Senate Bill 678 (SB 678), which incorporated ICWA into statutory law, revising several provisions of the Family, Probate, and Welfare and Institutions Codes. (See Assem. Com. on Judiciary, Analysis of Sen. Bill No. 678 (2005–2006 Reg. Sess.) as amended June 14, 2006; 2006 Stats., Ch. 838, §1; *In re Autumn K., supra,* 221 Cal.App.4th at pp. 703–704.)

Among many other provisions, SB 678 added section 224 to the Welfare and Institutions Code, setting forth the following Legislative findings and declarations which mirrored ICWA: "(a)(1) There is no resource that is more vital to the continued existence and integrity of Indian tribes than their children, and the State of California has an interest in protecting Indian children who are members of, or are eligible for membership in, an Indian tribe. The state is committed to protecting the essential tribal relations and best interest of an Indian child by promoting practices, in accordance with the Indian Child Welfare Act (25 U.S.C. §1901, et seq.) and other applicable law, designed to prevent the child's involuntary out-of-home placement and, whenever that placement is

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