S220187

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

SUPREME COURT

In re ABBIGAIL A., et al.,

FEB 1 7 2015

Persons Coming Under the Juvenile Court Law.

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

SACRAMENTO COUNTY DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVICES,

Plaintiff and Appellant,

v.

JOSEPH A., et al.,

Defendants, Respondents, and Petitioner.

AFTER DECISION BY THE COURT OF APPEAL THIRD APPELLATE DISTRICT CASE NO. C074264

ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

JOHN F. WHISENHUNT, County Counsel [California State Bar 89823]
LILLY C. FRAWLEY, Deputy County Counsel [California State Bar 80060]
COUNTY OF SACRAMENTO
3331 Power Inn Road, Suite 350
Sacramento, CA 95826
Telephone: (916) 875-4395

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

DISCUSSION

At issue is the validity of two rules adopted by the California

Judicial Council to implement the ICWA. Together, the two rules in
question require the "appropriate individual or social service agency" to
engage in active efforts to seek tribal enrollment of eligible Indian children.

(Rules 5.482(c) and 5.484(c)(2).)¹⁵

The parties agree that the ICWA is only applicable to "Indian children who are subject to child custody proceedings." (See RB., p. 13.) What is disputed is whether children such as those in this case are Indian children.

Respondent contends that the Cherokee Nation's response required a finding that the children are Indian children because the minors' membership "is a virtual certainty." (RB, pp. 35-36, fn. 13.) Based on this speculative premise, respondent contends that application of rules 5.482(c) and 5.484(c)(2) will not create a conflict with state law; and that state law does not preempt the rules.

See footnotes 4 and 5, *ante*.

Respondent's contention ignores the facts. Here, the juvenile court found that the children and appellant are *not* members of the tribe.

(RT 52.) The court's finding was based on the tribe's determination that the children in the pending case are *not* members of the Cherokee Nation albeit they are eligible for enrollment on the record in this case (2 CT 333, 390); and that they cannot be enrolled until and unless the following condition was satisfied: "when the child/children or eligible parent[s] apply *and receive* membership" (2 CT 333, italics added; 2 CT 390 [same]).

Respondent's contention also ignores the law. First, section 224.1, subdivision (a), which defines an Indian child, does not extend "Indian child" status to a nonmember, eligible child of *nonmembers*. (§ 224.1, subd. (a).) Indian child status requires membership (political affiliation with a tribe) by either the child or one of the child's biological parents. (*Ibid.*)

Second, section 224, subdivision (c) recognizes the nature of tribal membership, by mandating that the tribe must determine that the minor is eligible for membership *and* is the biological child of a member before application of the ICWA can be triggered. (§ 224, subd. (c).)¹⁶

Section 224, subdivision (c) states that:

A determination by an Indian tribe that an unmarried person, who is under the age of 18 years, is either (1) a member of an Indian tribe or (2) eligible for membership in

Third, a tribe's determination that a child is or is not a member is conclusive. (§ 224.3, subd. (e)(1).)

Ignoring the statutory definition of an Indian child prescribed by section 224.1, subdivision (a)—and the fact that the definition is based on tribal affiliation—respondent contends that the definition can be broadened to include children such as those in the pending case. Notwithstanding the fact that membership in the Cherokee tribe does not require a certain percentage of blood relationship to an ancestor who is a member, ¹⁷ respondent focuses attention on the child's blood quantum, and attempts to draw the court's attention away from the statutory definition of an Indian child of the ICWA by calling the court's attention to a different provision of the ICWA:

...[S]ection 224, subdivision (d) and the rules interpreting it ...constitute an express statement by the Legislature that California law is designed to protect children who are eligible for tribal membership *because of a sufficient*

an Indian tribe and a biological child of a member of an Indian tribe shall constitute a significant political affiliation with the tribe and shall require the application of the federal [ICWA] to the proceedings. (§ 224, subd. (c).)

The Cherokee Nation does not require any particular degree of heritage, but instead requires proof of descent from an ancestor listed on the Dawes Rolls. (Official Cherokee Nation Website: About Citizenship, http://www.cherokee.org/Services/TribalCitizenship/Citizenship.aspx, (last visited January 8, 2015.)

blood quantum of Indian descent. (RB, p. 18, italics omitted and added.)¹⁸

Respondent's interpretation violates the rules of statutory construction and renders the ICWA's definition of an "Indian child" meaningless, turning the implementation of the ICWA on its head.

Respondent contends that the rules at issue "do not violate a uniform national standard for ICWA application because definitions of membership and eligibility are determined exclusively by the tribe." (Respondent's Opening Brief on the Merits ("RB"), p. 41, capitalization omitted; see also p. 41 ["because ICWA does not constrain how tribal 'membership' or 'eligibility' is to be defined, there is no national standard for establishing who is an 'Indian child.']; see also RB, p 42.) This contention is a red herring.

It is true that the question of membership rests with each tribe. This is a non-issue. Respondent conflates the tribe's function to determine tribal membership and the court's duty to make a legal determination of Indian

See also RB, p. 2 ["Rules 5.482(c) and 5.484(c)(2) do not conflict with statute because they do not redefine 'Indian child.' They are narrow procedural mandates which apply only after ICWA notice reveals a tribe has already determined an unenrolled child has sufficient Indian blood quantum for membership."]; RB, p. 29 ["Rules 5.482(c) and 5.484(c)(2) do not ...the reach of ICWA...[because] [the] children...have already been found by a tribe to have sufficient blood quantum to qualify for membership to have ICWA protections."]; and RB, p. 30 ["Rules 5.482(c) and 5.484(c)(2) direct the social services agency to engage in 'active efforts' to assist a child with a qualifying quantum Indian blood level to enroll."]

child status. The tribe decides eligibility but the court decides whether a child is an Indian child for purposes of the ICWA. (See Seiser & Kumli, Cal. Juvenile Courts Practice and Procedure (2013 ed.) § 2.125[1], pp. 2 - 341.) The tribe's determination is simply intended to assist the court—but the court must still decide whether to the ICWA applies. (*Matter of Baby Boy Doe* (Idaho 1993) 849 P.2d 925, 931.)¹⁹

In support of his view that the court rules at issue are valid, respondent relies heavily on *In re Jack C.*, *III* (2011) 192 Cal.App.4th 967 (*Jack C.*), which considered and upheld the validity of rule 5.482(c), one of the two rules at issue in this case.²⁰ The *Jack C.* court rejected the agency's contention that rule 5.482(c) "impermissibly expand[s] ICWA beyond its jurisdictional limits," reasoning that the rule "promotes the timely

As the Supreme Court of North Dakota explained in *In re Adoption of C.D.* (C.D.) (N.D. 2008) 751 N.W.2d 236, italics added: "[w]hile the Tribe has the authority to determine its own membership, it is for the state court to correlate that information to the statute, apply the law, and make the legal determination whether the child is an Indian child under 25 U.S.C. § 1903(4), thereby triggering application of ICWA. Thus, *the court* must initially determine whether a tribe has concluded that the child or parent is a member or is eligible for membership in the tribe, and that determination by the trial court is a finding of fact. [Citations.]." (*Id.* at p. 241.)

Respondent broadly reads *Jack C.*, *supra*, 192 Cal.App.4th 967 as authority for the proposition that rule 5.482(c) is not preempted by "ICWA or section 224, subdivision (a)" because the rule is "consistent with the goals and purposes of those statutes." (RB, p. 21; see also RB, p. 40 [citing *Jack C.*, at pp. 977 and 981 to support his contention that "[t]he rules do not contradict the definition of 'Indian child' adopted by our state Legislature as they do not provide ICWA protections to a class of persons never intended to be covered by the statute."].)

resolution of dependency matters by avoiding protracted litigation concerning the applicability of ICWA." (*Id.* at p. 981.) Respondent makes a similar argument: "since preventing delay and promoting tribal enrollment of eligible Indian children are both manifest intentions of the Legislature and Congress, it is impossible to see how rules 5.482(c) and 5.484(c)(2) are "inconsistent with statute." (RB, pp. 39-40.)

The pronouncement by the *Jack C*. court regarding federal preemption is dicta; and in any event, the court's reasoning is flawed. Similar to respondent, the *Jack C*. court conflated the tribe's determination of membership and the court's duty to make a legal finding regarding the application of the ICWA. (*Jack C., supra*, 192 Cal.App.4th at pp. 978 -979, 980.) For this and other reasons which we will explain later in this brief, respondent's heavy reliance on *Jack C., supra*, is misplaced.²¹

The facts in *Jack C.*, *supra*, 192 Cal.App.4th 967 are distinguishable. In this case, letters from the tribe indicate that the children in the pending case are *not* members of the Cherokee Nation albeit they are eligible for enrollment (2 CT 333, 390; RT 50-52; cf. *Jack C.*, at p. 981 [wherein the tribe considered the minor to be an Indian child, and the tribe "did not confirm that enrollment was a prerequisite for members"]); the tribe determined that it could not intervene until and unless the following condition was satisfied: "when the child/children or eligible parent[s] apply *and receive* membership" (2 CT 333, italics added; 2 CT 390 [same]; cf. *Jack C.*, at pp. 973-974 [tribe promptly intervened]); and the juvenile court found that the children and appellant are *not* members of the tribe. (RT 52; cf. *Jack C.*, *supra*, at pp. 989-980 [evidence before court was that approval of the father's membership application would merely be a matter of "bureaucratic" requirements].)

Respondent also makes an unsubstantiated claim that "[p]arental inaction to enroll an eligible child in a tribe in a California child custody case is akin to the parental action to avoid tribal jurisdiction..."

(RB, p. 34, italics in original.) Thus, he applauds the policy reasons for the adoption of the rules at issue, alleging that the rules fill a necessary void.

(RB, p. 31 ["parents often" lack "time, resources and ability" to ensure tribal enrollment for a child"]; RB, p. 3 [the rules "promote enrollment, even when a parent...is not interested in protecting a child's Indian membership rights"].)

In reviewing statutes, the court cannot evaluate the policy considerations undertaken by the Legislature. (Superior Court v. County of Mendocino (1996) 13 Cal.4th 45, 53 ["[T]he choice among competing policy considerations in enacting laws is a legislative function.'

(Citation.]".) As this Court explained in Blair v. Pitchess (1971) 5 Cal.3d 258 (Blair), "[t]his court cannot..., in the exercise of its power to interpret, rewrite the statute. If this court were to insert ...provisions..., it would in no sense be interpreting the statute...but would be rewriting the statute....

That is a legislative and not a judicial function.' [Citations." (Id. at p. 282; see also Cal. Const., art. III, § 3.)

Respondent's view—that "accomplish[ing] tribal enrollment for a child in its care" is not an "unreasonable" "burden" on the department "as

enrollment services are nominal" (RB, p. 32)—is simplistic. Respondent completely ignores the question of whether a child is an Indian child for purposes of the ICWA, and if so, whether securing tribal enrollment is required by the ICWA.²²

Respondent's view on this issue is also not true. The ICWA's requirements are onerous. (See *In re W.B.*, *Jr.* (2012) 55 Cal.4th 30, 48 (*W.B.*), citing *In re S.B.* (2005) 130 Cal.App.4th 1148, 1156–1157 ["When applicable, ICWA imposes three types of requirements: notice, procedural rules, and enforcement."].) Furthermore, applying the ICWA's protections to children who do not fit within the Act's definition of an Indian child can have drastic consequences. (RB, p. 37 [noting that "the tribe [may] intervene[] and seek[] to replace a child to an Indian home, move[] to shift the case to a tribal court," etc.].)

This brings us to the real question: Can states broaden the definition of an Indian child to include an "eligible" Indian child whose membership application—or a biological parent's application—is pending? The answer requires an analysis of whether Congress intended the term "Indian child," as set forth in the ICWA, be subject to a uniform, narrow definition.

As we noted earlier, the ICWA's active efforts requirement does not mention a duty to secure tribal enrollment. (25 U.S.C. § 1912(d); § 361.7, subd. (a).)

Nowhere within the statutory definition of an Indian child is ancestry or heritage a relevant factor; nor is there any indication that eligibility for membership alone meets the requirements of the definition. (25 U.S.C. § 1903(4).) For children who are not tribal members, such as the children in this case, eligibility is but one criterion necessary for triggering application of the ICWA. (*Jose C., supra*, 155 Cal.App.4th 844 explained, "[e]ligibility is only *one* criterion necessary to be found to be an Indian child." (*Id.* at p. 849.)

ICWA definition of an "Indian child"

The ICWA prescribes two alternate routes by which a child can meet the definition of an "Indian child." (25 U.S.C. § 1903(4).) To be an Indian child for purposes of the ICWA, the child must be a member of a federally recognized tribe; or if a child is not a member, the ICWA allows a child who is *eligible* for membership to be designated "Indian child" only if the child's biological parent is a *member* of a tribe. (25 U.S.C. § 1903(4); § 224.1, subd. (a).) Conversely, the ICWA does not extend "Indian child" status to an eligible child of a *non-member*. (*Ibid*.)

Because the definition of an Indian child recognizes only *tribal*Indians not *ethnic* Indians, proof of a child's Indian status requires more than evidence that a child is ethnically Indian, that is, has Indian ancestry (race). (*C.D.*, *supra*, 751 N.W.2d at p. 243 ["The definition of 'Indian

child' in 25 U.S.C. § 1903(4) requires more than a showing that the child and parent have an Indian heritage."]; see also *In re R.M.W.* (Tex.App. 2006) 188 S.W.3d 831, 833 (*R.M.W.*) [assertion that a child or parent "is of Indian 'heritage' or 'blood' provides no evidence that any of the children are Indian children under the ICWA."].)

California definition of an "Indian Child"

Because of the limitation on states to legislate with regard to Indians, ²³ the California Legislature imported the ICWA's definition of an Indian child by referencing and mirroring language from the federal definition. (§ 224.1, subd. (a).) California law similarly incorporates congressional recognition that the definition must be based upon political affiliation, not Indian ancestry, to avoid unconstitutionality. (See § 224, subd. (c) [tribal determination of membership based on political affiliation]; see also § 224.3, subd. (e)(1) [a tribe's determination as to whether or not a child is a member is conclusive].

In appellant's view, since the federal ICWA includes an express definition of the type of children who are governed by the ICWA, and because that definition affects jurisdiction under the Act, the state is

As the United States Supreme Court explained in *Washington v. Confederated Bands & Tribes of the Yakima Indian Nation* (1979) 439 U.S. 463 (*Yakima*) the federal government has the constitutional authority to single out Indian tribes for special treatment, while "[s]tates do not enjoy this same unique relationship with Indians...." (*Id.* at pp. 500-501.)

powerless to expand that definition. (State ex rel. State Office for Services to Children and Families v. Klamath Tribe (Or. App. 2000) 11 P.3d 701, 707 (Klamath Tribe) ["...[O]nly Congress can define who is an Indian child."]; In re Santos Y. (2001) 92 Cal.App.4th 1274, 1317 (Santos Y.) ["California has no independent constitutional authority with respect to Indian tribes."].)

Appellant also contends that the ICWA definition of an "Indian child" must be narrowly construed, and that the definition must be ascribed a uniform, nationwide meaning. Sanctifying the respondent's proposed marriage of the rules and governing statutes would eviscerate the statutory definition of an Indian child and stand the implementation of ICWA on its head.

Inclusion of tribal Indians and exclusion of ethnic Indians

The "ICWA is quite precise in setting out the scope of its

provisions." (W.B., supra, 55 Cal.4th at p. 48, fn. omitted.)²⁴ As we noted

In rejecting the child's contention that state legislation expanded ICWA to delinquency proceedings to require notice to Indian Tribes in delinquency cases, the California Supreme Court quoted the definition of "Indian child" as prescribed by 25 U.S.C. § 1903(4):

ICWA is quite precise in setting out the scope of its provision. It applies to any "child custody proceeding" involving an "Indian child." (25 U.S.C. § 1903.) An 'Indian child' is an unmarried person under 18 who is either a member of an Indian tribe or is eligible for membership and is

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